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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MATTHEW JOSEPH MCGRATH, ))
Plaintiff, ;
V. ; Civil Action No. 05-2011 (RBW)
HILLARY RODHAM CLINTON, Secretary ))
United States Department of State )
Defendant. )) )

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Matthew McGrath brings this tgn against Hillary Rodham Clinton, in her
official capacity as the Secretary of Statmder Title VII of the CivilRights Act of 1964 (“Title
VII"), 42 U.S.C. 88 2000e-2000e-17 (2006), foeprisal for engaging in protected activity,”
Complaint (“*Compl.”) 1 1. Currently beforedltCourt is the defenddstmotion for summary
judgment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Paho® 56. After carefully considering the party’s
pleadings, the defendant’s motion, and all memoranda of law and exhibits submitted with these
filings,? and for the reasons set forth below, the Court concludes that it must grant the

defendant’s motion.

! The plaintiff's complaint, filedDctober 11, 2005, names @ibleeza Rice, the Secretary for the Department of
State at the time, as the defendarthia case. The Court has substituted Secretary Clinton as the defendant in lieu
of former Secretary Rice pursuant taEeal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(d)(1).

2 n addition to the plaintiff's complaint and the dedant’'s motion for summary judgment (“Def.’s Mot.”), the
Court considered the following documents in reachindétdsion: (1) the defendant’'s Memorandum of Points and
Authorities in Support of Defendant’s Motion for Sulemy Judgment (“Def.’s Mem.”) (2) the Defendant’s
Statement of Undisputed Facts (“DefSemt. of Facts”), (3) the Plaintif’ Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment and Supporting Memorandum (“Pl.’'s @p(4) the Plaintiff's Statement of Disputed Facts
(“Pl.’s Stmt. of Facts”), (5) the Defendant’s Reply in Further Support of Defendant’s Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Def.’s Reply”), and (6) the Defendant’s Response to Plaintiff's Statement of DiBpats (“Def.’s
Resp.”).
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. BACKGROUND

Viewing the evidence in the light most favdealo the plaintiffthe facts underlying this
lawsuit are the following.

The plaintiff, a white male, “began tssrvice as a Foreign Service Officer [(“FS
Officer”)] on June 10, 1984” and “was terminatag[the] defendant effective on November 30,
2004, after “serv[ing] in a vaeity of responsible posts in nenous countries throughout the
world . . ..” I1d. 11. The plaintiff “achieved Grade-Ithe highest level for a regular [FS
Officer] — in a time period much faster tham tisual FS Officer [and] . . . [h]is performance
ratings from 1984 through 1999 were outstanding.”fIti2. The plaintiff assumed his position
as the Chief of the Division of Cultural Prografosthe Department of State (the “Chief”) on
September 10, 2001, which was under the supervision of S. Van Wund®r13ld According to
the plaintiff, “[w]ithin the first weeks of [is] employment in his new position . . . [Mr.]
Wunder[] began to attempt to undermine [ghaintiff's] authority as Chief,” id.“by going
directly to [his subordinates] about agsinents, instead of going through [him],” fi14. “In
late September, 2001, Mr. Wunder began testjon [the plaintifficoncerning gossip Mr.
Wunder [had] heard that [the plaintiff] had a ‘lggevance,” which, ahe time, [according to
the plaintiff,] was inaccurate[, and an inquirg thlaintiff considered] inappropriate since Mr.
Wunder had no business interferinghathe grievance process as [thaintiff's] supervisor.”

Id. 7 18.

When the plaintiff first commenced his dti@s Chief, he “attempted to have regular

staff meetings and then, when he and other employees concludeddhdineeting] was a

disruptive and frustrating event, he began having-on-one meetings witaff instead.” Pl.’s



Stmt. of Facts 1 24. The plaintiff “did not atteinip resume the . . . group meetings” despite Mr.
Waunder’s direction to do so at a meetingveen the two of them on March 8, 2002, concluding
that they would still be “ine#fctive” and that he “had been Hinlg frequent individual meetings
with his staff.” I1d.q 72.

The plaintiff asserts that “Mr. Wunder tted African American women differently than
he did white women in the office — in that ¢f@ve white women promotions and better work
assignments than African American women.” Cbarfjidl4. The plaintiff claims that “[o]n at
least three occasionglr. Wunder . . . wanted [the plaintiff intervene [in disputes] on the side
of the white women.”_Id{ 21. The plaintiff also claimsah“Mr. Wunder . . . cited his own
success in terminating an employeavhom Mr. Wunder referred #lsat ‘Cuban’ — Mo Garcia,”
id. 1 31, although Mr. Wunder flatlyenies this allegation, A Opp’n, Exhibit (“EX.”) 35
(Defendant’s Response to Plaintiff's Request¥dmissions No. 4). As another example of Mr.
Wunder’s alleged insensitivity towards minoritiédsg plaintiff points to his “repeated[] and
strong|[] disagree[ment] with MWunder about the allocation thfe Division’s limited cultural
funds.”® Compl. 1 20. The defendant acknowledgesttiat|[p]laintiff routinely objected to the
manner in which the Festival Fund was operatbdt’states that “whellr. Wunder gave [the
p]laintiff the opportunity to prepare a packsir the fund’s partners suggesting certain

modifications, [the p]laintiff refsed.” Def.’s Mem. at 14. Iresponse to this allegation, the

3 The plaintiff objected to what he perceived as

funds which were disproportionately given to Western Europe [rather than] to Africa artairthe
World. [The plaintiff] believes that the maieason for Mr. Wunder’s disagreement with [the
plaintiff about reallocating funds] was Mr. Wunder’s discriminatory bias against people of color
and people who advocate for fair treatment for racial and ethnic minorities.

Compl. 1 20.



plaintiff states both thafc]ontrary to [the d]efendant’s assien, [the plaintiff] never refused to
complete a plan for reformation of the fund,” RIOpp’n at 6 n.4, and that he had not prepared a
plan for reformation because he “was unwilling to participate in an exercise in futility,” Pl.’s
Stmt. of Facts { 78.

According to the plaintiff, in the fablf 2001 Mr. Wunder “began pressing [him] to
prepare documentation that wols@d to the termination of ¢hemployment [of] an elderly
disabled African American female employee, E.J. Montgomery,” Compl. § 31, which the
plaintiff refused to do, idf 32, telling Mr. Wunder that his “itrsictions . . . [were] unethical and
illegal discrimination based upon Ms. Montgomery’s age, race, and disabilit§f,'3@l. “Mr.
Wunder specifically denies that he directed [the p]laintiff to document Ms. Montgomery’s
performance to terminate her,” Def.’s Meat.23-24, and the defendant notes that “Ms.
Montgomery continue[d] to be an employedid State Department” as of the date the
defendant filed her summary judgment motiae, at 26. While the plaintiff was on leave in
January and February, 2002, lomitends that Mr. Wunder begassaning “large amount[s] of
work . . . to Ms. Montgomery,” Compl. | 34, igh the plaintiff believes was motivated by Mr.
Wunder’s desire to create “a setfigp her anticipated failure,” id] 35. However, Ms.
Montgomery indicated that she doesn’t recajl additional duties assigned to her by Mr.
Wunder during February, 2002. Def.’s MeBx. 42 (Mar. 16, 2005 Deposition of Evangeline
Montgomery (“Montgomery Dep.”)) at 354. Aroutids same time, Mr. Wunder rescinded Ms.

Montgomery’s travel authorizian, which had previously beapproved by the plaintiff.

* The plaintiff maintains that Ms. Montgomery’s continued employment, her “excellent” ratihgioyetr's
evaluation, Def.’s Mem. at 2, amer receipt of voice recognition softwaceaccommodate her disability, it 26,
were all efforts by Mr. Wunder to insulate himself from claims of discrimination, Cordgl. Bl.'s Opp’n at 15
n.14, 25.



Compl. 1 35. The defendant explains this actsteting that “Mr. Wunder concedes that he
rescinded [the p]laintiff's approval of Ms. Ma@umery’s travel because [the p]laintiff had
improperly authorized travel that was noteditly tied to matters that Ms. Montgomery was
working on.” Def.’s Mem. at 25. The plaifithighlights Mr. Wunder'anconsistency on this
matter, noting that he also “claimed that teision to deny travel for Ms. Montgomery was
connected to a review of d@thvel in the office” during hig&qual Employment Opportunity
Commission (“EEOC”) testimony. Pl.’s Opp’n at 16.

On January 17, 2002, shortly before the pitiimtas scheduled to be on extended leave
commencing the following dayCompl. 1 22, 24, “Mr. Wunder asked [the plaintiff] if there
were any pending projects” he had not completed] 22. Since the plaintiff “did not consider
the signing of a Certifete of Appreciation by the SecretarySihte [for presentation to a jazz
musician at a reception that thiaintiff did not believe would occur] to be a[n] urgent pending
matter at the time he spoke witr. Wunder,” the plaitiff replied that thee were none._Id]

23. Shortly after speaking Mr. Wunder, however, the pldiff “became concerned that the
matter concerning the presentatiorjtbe] award to the musician giit still occur prior to [the
plaintiff's] return from home leave,” id] 24, but the plaintiff couldot locate Mr. Wunder to tell
him about the matter, id. 25. Included in the plaintiffsesponsibilities for the award ceremony
was drafting talking points for the Secretary anglanizing the printing of the Certificate of
Appreciation for the awardee. Def.’s Mem., Ex. 16 (Mar. 16, 2005 Deposition of Van Samuel
Wunder (“Wunder Dep.”)) at 456-57. Although thaiptiff could not find Mr. Wunder before
departing for his extended horneave, he “wrote a cover memamdum explaining the situation

and left the memorandum and file [for] Mr. Wwrd Compl. T 25. “[T]he ceremony occurred

® The plaintiff was scheduled to be on leave until February 21, 2002.
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[on January 20, 2002] with [formee&retary of State Colin Powel'wife] handing a blank
certificate to [the awardee’s] dghter.” Def.’s Mem. at 10; Def.’s Mem., Ex. 16 (Wunder Dep.)
at 457-59. Although “[s]ubsequently, Secretary Pbsigned and shipped finalized certificate
to [the awardee],” Def.’s Mem. at 10; De Mem., Ex. 16 (Wunder Dep.) at 457-59, Mr.
Wunder, displeased with what had occurred, &vtbe plaintiff an e-mail immediately after the
ceremony was completed expressing his “displeasiihg]the p]laintiff's performance . ...”
Def.’s Mem. at 10.

In addition to the Award Ceremony incidethte defendant highlighta number of other
minor incidents during the pldiff's tenure as Chief of thBivision of Cultural Programs,
including the plaintiff's inattentiveness to budget constrants his lack of communication with
his subordinates and supervisors. Def.’s Mem.lat Specifically, the defendant claims that the
plaintiff significantly overran budgetary constraints on one projectard! that several
subordinates “each confirmed that [the p]lainis noticeably absent or ‘non-existent’ in his
supervisory role and that they were frusgdaworking for him because he gave them no
guidance or information,” igseeid. at 11-12 (“[A] numbeof [the p]laintiff's subordinates, who
were principally responsible for ¢am . . . programs, were ofterftlen the dark as to budgeting
details of their own projects, @be p]laintiff didnot meet with them to review budgets and
plans.”). The plaintiff, however, states that he “inherited [the budgetary overrun] from his
predecessor,” and that he “informed the . .ff sfaboth their individual budgets and overall
budget.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 18. Mr. Wader also states that when thlaintiff “returned from home
leave at the end of February, 2002, [he] did noMie Wunder know that he had returned to the

office,” and that shortly “[tlhereafter, in eararch, [the p]laintiff mesed two meetings that

® Secretary Powell was the Secretanptdte at the time of the ceremony.
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Mr. Wunder had instructed the plaintiff to attend.” Def.’s Mem. at 12. The plaintiff counters
that “he did give Mr. Wunder noticthat [one of] the meeting[s] conflicted with a previously
scheduled medical appointment” and that hd febt recall whether he attended the [second]
meeting and, in addition, . . . that as the@e¥e so many meetings to cover he was often
unavailable to attend meetingstbvould send a subordinate in Iplace.” Pl.’s Stmt. of Facts
63.

On March 8, 2002, Mr. Wunder met with theipkiff to address Isiconcerns about the
plaintiff's inadequate performance. Ki71. During this meeting, which became “heated,” the
plaintiff alleges that “Mr. Wunder told [him] th#the did not begin the process of terminating
Ms. Montgomery, Mr. Wunder would give [him]reegative performance rating.” Compl. § 38.
Since the plaintiff “realized that Mr. Wundesas serious about trying to terminate [the
plaintiff's] employment[,] . . . [he] prontly sought EEO counseling in March, 2002.” [@hen,
on April 11, 2002, the plaintiff received the fidfttwo negative employee evaluation reports.
Pl.’s Opp’'n at 21. The first dinot include a review by thegihtiff's second-line supervisor,

Mr. Sexton, because he had left his positioadarly February, and Mr. Wunder claims that he
did not think that Mr. Sextos’review was necessary. |&rior to 2002, the plaintiff's

evaluations had been generally positive, \hih exception of one in 1999, which chastised him
for “unauthorized use of [offial] vehicles for home-to-office transportation and other personnel
use,” Def.’s Mem., Ex. 37 (June 2, 1999 Mea@r Officer EvaluatioiReport (“1999 Evaluation
Report”) at 4, and one in 2000, which criticized lmanagement style because he “sparked low
morale among a majority of his existing stadfid “[p]robably half [of his staff] comment[ed]

that they ha[d] been intimidated in recent months by his behavior which include[d] shouts,”



Def.’s Mem., Ex. 38 (May 1, 2000 McGrath Officer Evaluation Report (“2000 Evaluation
Report”) at 3. The plaintiff>@lains the negative review bfs management style in his 2000
evaluation report, noting that “this [report] wiasued during a time of great upheaval in the
office,” Pl.’s Opp’n at 4, when “numerous empéms in the office left for personal reasons or
because they were terminated for misconduct orrggcaasons,” Pl.’s Opp’n at 4 n.2. On April
16, 2002, the plaintiff made a formal complaith the EEOC, Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 2 (Initial
Contact Sheet/EEO Counselor’'s Regtinitial Contact Sheet”)at 2, and shortly thereafter he
informed Stephen Hart, his second-line superva the time, that he had filed the EEOC
complaint, Compl. 1 29. On April 24, 2002, thaiptiff received “a seand [evaluation report],
this time with a reviewing stament written by Mr. Sexton,” idwhich the plaintiff believes
“was written in retaliation for his filing a discrimination complaint,” §d30. “[T]he only
substantive change [to the second report] waadhédion of Mr. Sexton’s rgew.” Def.’s Stmt.
of Facts 1 99. Although the defdant initially claimed that #h“[p]laintiff did not submit a
statement concerning his performance ratingdicating any inaccuracies in Mr. Wunder’s
narrative,” id. 1 91, the plaintiff contends that hetually did “prepare[] and submit[] a
statement for inclusion in his [eluation report], [but] . . . [thd]efendant would not allow [the
p]laintiff's statement to be included becatmsereferred to his pending EEO complaint,” Pl.’s
Stmt. of Facts 1 91. The plaintiff generally “disputes the vera€ibjr. Wunder and Mr.
Sexton’s statements” containedhiis negative evaluation reportsdaasserts that contrary to the

defendant’s contention, he didrgvide updates on . . . [a] grant competition[,] . . . spent

" The defendant later admits that the plaintiff did in fact “attempt[] to submit a statement concerning his
performance rating for inclusion in his [evaluation rejobut that it was barred because “the [United States
Department of State] forbids the inclusion of statemeaoit&erning EEO complaints in employee evaluations.”
Def.’s Resp. at 5-6.



considerable time searching for the right pedplee on the panel [for the competition,] . . .
[and,] contrary to Mr. Wunder’s claims, . . . did moutinely fail to returrtelephone calls nor . . .
fail to respond to e-mails.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 2Zhe plaintiff also asserts that the negative
evaluation reports “virtually ignore ig] accomplishments while Chief,” idt 22, including the
fact that “the [reportslo] not provide [the plaintiff] witteredit for the sumessful Thelonius
Monk Institute reception held in Februadjid. at 22 n.22.

The defendant claims that “[a]fter [the piiaff received his [evaluation reports], instead
of taking steps to improve his performance, piaintiff’'s performance worsened,” Def.’'s Stmit.
of Facts § 101, and according to Mr. Wunder fikby it became extremely difficult to get [a]
response from [the plaintiff] to theght e-mails or telephone messages,™id.02. Although
the plaintiff “admits that he mayot have responded to a requestdatact an individual at the
Korean Embassy, this request was not communiaatélthe very end of [his] tenure,” Pl.’s
Opp’n at 19 n.19, and he maintains thatwas . . . diligent about his supervisory
responsibilities . . . [and] he maintained an ogear policy and was always available to answer
guestions,” Pl.’s Opp’n at 19. Thdaintiff claims that “Mr. Wunde. . . continued his retaliation
[after the negative evaluation reports] . . . bydieg him a series of false accusatory memoranda
on May 8, 2002; May 16, 2002; May 20, 20@2d May 21, 2002; and by attempting to
intimidate him.” Compl.  42. On June 10, 2002, phaintiff “was involunarily curtailed from

his position of Chief of the Dision of Cultural Programs[,]” wibh according to the plaintiff

® The plaintiff proposed “to have then Secretary of SEatin Powell convene a reception in honor of the Institute
and the winner of its international jazz competition.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 7. The plaintiff states that when he “defended
his idea to Mr. Wunder and pointed out that the eventdvmake a great Black History Month event — Mr. Wunder
grimaced. Mr. Wunder denies that\lwas opposed to the reception.” Id.

9



was “in retaliation for his refusal to termiedls. Montgomery and iretaliation for his EEO
activity.” 1d. ¥ 50.

In a separate incident that occurteaing January, 2002, thegitiff “charged $399.66
on his Government issued credit card becaustdyed in a hotel fdwo nights in New York
City on Government business.” ii44. “[B]ecause of the sectyrinitiatives post-September
11, 2001, mail addressed to Governmefite$ was seriously delayed,” ifl.45, and the
plaintiff learned that the chge remained outstanding when‘heceived a telephone call from
Citibank on May 10, 2002,” id[ 46. “During that call, he paid Citibank over the phone . . .
[and] believed . . . that thelbwas paid in full.” 1d. However, the plaintiff “accidentally failed
to give Citibank the four zerdsefore the account number,” iédnd as a result “his credit union .
.. refused [to honor the plaintiff's] check,” ifl.47. Since the plairfitino longer worked at the
Bureau of Educational and Cultural Affaiafter June 10, 2002, he was not “contacted by
Citibank [until September 2002, at which point he was] informed about the returned check for
the first time, and [he] immediately paid the bill again successfully.y &B. Initially, the
“Bureau of Human Resources proposed a two-dagension of” the plaintiff because of the late
payment, but eventually “the proposed suspensias reduced to a Letter of Admonishment on
December 31, 2002,” and, although the plaintiffrolaithat the letter “was placed in [his]
Official Personnel Fildor one year,” idq 55, the letter itself statéisat “[t]his letter of
Admonishment will nobe placed in your Official Personrtéle but will be maintained by the
Office of Employee Relations for one yeddéf.’s Mem., Ex. 47 (December 31, 2002 Letter of

Admonishment to Matthew Mc@th (“Letter of Adnonishment”)) at 2 (emphasis added).
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Eventually, in February, 2003, the plaintiff “wassigned to a position as an examiner at
the Declassification Unit . . . reiady and designating documents thagre previously classified
to be declassified.” Pl.’s Opp’at 28. The delay in obtainignew position was “due, at least
in part, to the fact that by the summeR6D2 almost all positions coming open in the fall of
2002 had already been filled” and “because of corecergarding the abrupt curtailment.” Pl.’s
Opp’n at 28. “In April 2004, the State Depadnt’'s Performance Standards Board reviewed
[the plaintiff's] Performancé&ile and determined, based in substantial part on the 2002
[evaluation reports], to designat[e the plaintifff separation from the Foreign Service.” &d.
31. His separation became effective November 30, 2004. Id.

. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In order to grant a motion for summangdgment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 56, this Court must find that “thegalings, the discovery and disclosure materials on
file, and any affidavits show that there is no geaussue as to any material fact and that the
movant is entitled to judgmenst a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). When ruling on a
motion for summary judgment, ti@ourt must view the evidence tine light most favorable to

the non-moving party. Holcomb v. Powel33 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (citing Reeves v.

Sanderson Plumbing Prod§30 U.S. 133, 150 (2000)). Additionally, the moving party must

show that the non-moving party “fail[ed] to makehowing sufficient to establish the existence
of an element essential to that party’s case canghich that party wilbear the burden of proof

at trial.” Celotex Corp. v. Catre#477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). In responding to the motion, the

non-moving party cannot rely on “mea#legations or denials . . . , but. must set forth specific

facts showing that there [are] genuine &slifor trial.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477
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U.S. 242, 248 (1986) (internal quotation and @tabmitted) (second omission in original). In
other words, the non-moving party cannagant “conclusory allegations unsupported by

factual data [to] create a thke issue of fact.”_Pub. Ca#en Health Research Group v. FDI85

F.3d 898, 908 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (internal quotation emation omitted). Thus, “[i]f the evidence
is merely colorable . . . or is not significanfyobative . . . summary judgment is granted.”
Anderson 477 U.S. at 249-50 (internal citations omitted).
lll. LEGAL ANALYSIS

The defendant argues that she is entgl@himary judgment because no reasonable juror
could conclude that the adverse employmentsil@es taken against tiptaintiff stemmed from
a retaliatory motive, and that he cannot shaoat the reasons offered for his termination were
pretextual. The plaintiff nahger alleges that discriminatibased on race was a reason for his
involuntary curtailment. Additionally, beyond simply asserting gender discrimination in his
complaint, Compl. 11 1, 60-65, the plaintiff makessooh further allegations support of this

claim and the Court will therefore dismisgitAnd to the extent that it was ever asserted, the

® The plaintiff initially asserted claims of discriminatibased on his race. Compl. {1 1, 60-65. However, the
plaintiff subsequently withdrew his race discrimination claim. Pl.’s Opp'n at 1 n.1.

10" Although the Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment
does not directly address the gender discrimination cthenjefendant does assedtttthe Court should enter
summary judgment in [the d]efendant'vda on the totality of [the p]laintiff€laims.” Def.’s Mem. at 3. While

the plaintiff explicitly abandons only his race discrimination claim, Pl.’s Opp’n at 1 n.1, he implicitly abandons his
gender discrimination claim as well, since his Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and
Supporting Memorandum never mentions a gender discrimination claim, and focuses exclusivehg@tidtion

claim, see generallpl.’s Opp’'n. Furthermore, even if the plaintiff had addressed his gender discrimination claim,
he would still have failed to survive summary judgment. Since the “plaintiff belongs to the male majority, his
[gender discrimination] claim is one of reverse discrimination.” Hunter v, B&@F. Supp. 2d 125, 135 (D.D.C.
2007);_see alsMastro v. Potomac Elec. Power Cé&47 F.3d 843, 851 (D.C. Cir. 2006). Under a reverse
discrimination claim, he “must show additional background circumstances [that] support the suspicion that the
defendant is that unusual employer who discriminates against the majority.” Mdstie.3d at 851 (internal
guotation omitted). The plaintiff has done nothing that would meet this burden, amfjnotthe record suggests

that the plaintiff's supervisor (also a male) is that unusual employer.

12



plaintiff does not contest the defendant’s arguimesagarding his hostile workplace claim, and
therefore the Court deems this argument conc&ded.

Until recently, it was the practice when asgeggsummary judgment motions in all cases
involving Title VII claims, incliding retaliation clams, to conduct the entire burden-shifting

framework pronounced by the Supreme GauMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greefll U.S.

792 (1973); sekathram v. Snow336 F.3d 1085, 1087 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (explaining that the

retaliation cases are analyaeuder the same McDonnell Dougliaamework as discrimination

cases but with slightly different “phrasing o&tprima facie case”), as was noted recently by the

District of Columbia Circuit irBrady v. Office of Sergeant at Arpns20 F.3d 490, 493 (D.C.

Cir. 2008) (“The [district] court’s focus on tipgima facie case was not atypical: When resolving
an employer’s motion for summary judgmenjwdgment as a matter of law in employment
discrimination cases, district courts often viiesvith the question wéther the employee made
out a prima facie case.”). Hower, the Court subsequentlgreounced that when a defendant
asserts a non-discriminatory or non-retaliat@yson for the adverse action being challenged by

a plaintiff, the “McDonnell Douglaframework — with its presuptions and burdens — is no

1“1t is understood in this Circuit that when a plaintiff files an opposition to a dispositive motion and addresses only
certain arguments raised by the government, a court maytosat arguments that thejpitiff failed to address as
conceded.”_Buggs v. PoweR93 F. Supp. 2d 135, 141 (D.D.C. 2003). This power derives from Local Civ. R.

7.1(b), which states:

Within 11 days of the date of service or at such other time as the court may direct, an opposing
party shall serve and file a memorandum of points and authorities in opposition to the motion. If
such a memorandum is not filed within the présed time, the court may treat the motion as
condeded.

(Emphasis added.) “Courts have interpreted this local rule to apply to specific arguments within a memorandum
opposing a motion.”_UnitkStates v. Real Pro287 F. Supp. 2d 45, 61 (D.D.C. 2003). Moreover, the plaintiff's
hostile workplace claim would have failed even if he had not conceded the argumerde lleealegree of severity

of the conduct did not rise to a level that would permit a jury to find for the plaig#éBarbour v. Browner181

F.3d 1342, 1347-4@.C. Cir. 1999) (explaininthat a workplace environment grbecomes “hostile” under Title

VIl when the defendant’s conduct creates an abusive working environment includiridatiom ridicule, and

insult).
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longer relevant,” St. Matg Honor Ctr. v. Hicks509 U.S. 502, 510 (1993), “and the sole

remaining issue [is] discrimination [or retaliation] vel rioReeves530 U.S. at 142 (citation

and internal quotation omitted). In other warfw]here the defendant has done everything
required of [her] if the plaintiff had properly @ out a prima facie case, whether the plaintiff

really did so is no longer relevant.” U Bostal Serv. Bd. of Governors v. Aiked$0 U.S. 711,

715 (1983). In such circumstanceg]t¢ district court has beforeall the evidence it needs to
decide whether the defendant intentionfiétaliated] against the plaintiff.”_IgJones v.

Bernanke 557 F.3d 670, 678 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (“[T]hgsenciples apply equally to retaliation
claims . ...”) (citation omitted). Accordingly, the Circuit Court made clear in Bitzaty‘the
guestion whether the employee made out a praoi fcase is almostvadys irrelevant,” 520

F.3d at 493, therefore making “the prima facieecas. a largely unnecessary sideshow,aid.

494. Thus, “in considering an employer’s motion for summary judgment,” when the “employer
has asserted a legitimate, nosatiminatory reason for the decision [being challenged by the
employee], the district court need not — and should-rdgcide whether ¢éhplaintiff actually

made out a prima facwase under McDonnell Douglasld.

At this stage, the only issue is whether gaintiff “produced sufficient evidence for a
reasonable jury to find that the employer’s assertedeason was not the actual reason and that
the employer intentionally [retaliated] agditise employee [for an unlawful reason].” &d.

494. In making this determination, courts musigh all the relevargvidence adduced by both

the plaintiff and the defendant. Reevg830 U.S. at 148-49; Brad$20 F.3d at 495; Czekalski v.

Peters475 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007); Aka v. Washington Hosp, 186 F.3d 1284, 1289

(D.C. Cir. 1998) (en banc). These categoriesuthelevidence that suppsthe plaintiff's prima

14



facie case, any evidencemietext, and any other relevant eaenide which “either separately or
in combination’ provide sufficient evidence foremsonable jury to infaetaliation.” Joness57

F.3d at 679 (quoting Waterhouse v. District of ColumB&8 F.3d 989, 996 (D.C. Cir. 2002)).

To establish a prima facie case in the retaliationecanthe plaintiff must establish that “(1) [he
engaged in] protected activit{2) the employer’s action ha[d] an adverse impact on [him]; and
(3) a causal relationship betweitie protected activity and the\gerse action [existed].” Paquin

v. Fed. Nat'l| Mortgage Ass;n19 F.3d 23, 31 (D.C. Cir. 1997). And there are “multiple ways”

for an employee to cast doubt on the employesseded reason for its\a&tse action against the
employee, including comparisons to others similarly situated who received more favorable
treatment, evidence showing that the employetiadsabout the predicate facts used to justify
its decision, and failure to follow establishatocol or procedure, among others. Beady,

520 F.3d at 495 (summarizing various techniques bgédtle VIl employees to show pretext in
an employer’s asserted reason for the challenged action).

With this framework as its guide, the Couitiwow turn to each of the acts of purported
retaliation: the plaintiff's claims concernitige negative evaluationpgerts, his involuntary
curtailment, the Letter of Admonishment, bBissignment to the Declassification Unit, and his
eventual separation from the Foreign Service.

A. The Plaintiff’'s Negative Evaluation Reports and Involuntary Curtailment

The plaintiff asserts that the negativelenation reports and involuntary curtailment

stemmed from his refusal to terminate Ms. Momtgoy and the filing of his complaint with the

EEOC* Compl. 11 61, 63. The defendant, on therdtlaed, cites various shortcomings in the

12|n order for a claim to be actionable under Title ¥k plaintiff must have suffered an adverse employment
action. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a); Weber v. Batti4g F.3d 179, 184 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Although not all formal
(continued . . .)
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plaintiff's performance as justification for treeactions. Def.’s Mem. at 5-15. Because the
defendant has offered a non-retaratjustification for these actis, the Court must look at the
evidence as a whole, including proof of thaipliff’'s prima facie case, the non-retaliatory
justification provided by the defeant, and any other evidence giaintiff can offer to bolster
his prima facie case or undermine tledendant’s proffered justification. SBeady, 520 F.3d at
494 (“[I]n considering an employer’s motion for sunmnpudgment . . . , tl district court must
resolve one central questiddas the employee produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable
jury to find that the employer’s asserted nostdfiatory] reason was not the actual reason”).
To support his claim that he had been irdtd to take improper action that would result
in Ms. Montgomery’s termination, the plaintiffsifies that he was tolieh the fall of 2001 by
Mr. Wunder to document her performance for the ultimate purpose of terminating her
employment, and that the pressto take action against Mglontgomery intensified in early
2002. Pl.’s Opp’n at 9; se@soCompl. § 38. The plaintiff “bedved that the pressure exerted
by Mr. Wunder regarding Ms. Montgomery waswarranted and raclgimotivated, and he
opposed the pressure on the ground [that] it wasidlisatory.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 9. On March 8,
2002, the plaintiff contends that he and Mfunder “had a lengthy, heated discussion
concerning Ms. Montgomery . . ., during which Mfunder told [the plaintiff] that if he did not
begin the process of terminating Ms. Montgoyn@&ir. Wunder would give [the plaintiff] a
negative performance rating.” Compl. { 38. Asslteof this meeting, the plaintiff contends

that he realized “that Mr. Wunder was seriousulirying to terminate” him based on his refusal

(. . . continued)

criticism of an employee constitutes an adverse employment action, Brown v, B88dy.3d 446, 458 (D.C. Cir.
1999), because the pléifis negative evaluation reports led directlyhis involuntary curtailment, this Court finds
that the negative reports were adverse action within the meaning of Title \W\/edwe 494 F.3d at 185-86
(concluding that the “two pasfmance evaluations . . . challenged . . . qu#ifi] as adverse actions insofar as they
resulted in [the plaintiff] losing a financial award”).
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to oust Ms. Montgomery. |dThe plaintiff spoke to sevdraf his co-workers about his
perception that Mr. Wunder was “placing gsare on him to terminate Ms. Montgomery,”
thereby indicating his contemporaneous beliaf r. Wunder was asking him to do something
discriminatory. Pl.’s Opp’n at 20. Additionally glplaintiff was predisposed to believe that Mr.
Wunder had a negative attitude towards Afriéanericans, whether or not this was true,
because he was told by a co-worker that Wiunder treated black and white employees
differently. Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 41 (flidavit of LaFaye Proctor (“Rictor Aff.”)) 8. From this
evidence, the Court findbat a jury could determine that thkintiff refused to cooperate with
Mr. Wunder’s desire to terminate Ms. Montgeimy because of a good faith, reasonable belief

that Mr. Wunder was engaging in discriminatory conduct. Gaek County Sch. Dist. v.

Breeden532 U.S. 268, 270 (2001) (citing with apprbaaNinth Circuit case for the proposition
that a plaintiff is protected from retaliatiorrfopposing any employer adtiy that he reasonably
believes is unlawful, regardless of whetherahsvity actually is unlawful). The plaintiff
refusing to obey orders he perceived to berohisnatory satisfies thérst prong of the prima

facie casé® SeeGeorge v. Leavitt407 F.3d 405, 417 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (allowing that so long as

the employee “reasonabl[y] belie[ved] that thaltdnged practice violates Title VII,” that

conduct represents protected activitygting Parker v. Balt. & Ohio R.R. C&52 F.2d 1012,

1020 (D.C. Cir. 1981)). Concernitige other elements of thegpitiff's prima facie case, his
negative evaluation reports and Bubsequent involuntacurtailment cleayl qualify as adverse

actions, seaote 12, supraand the plaintiff alleges that MWunder repeatedly demanded that

13 As noted earlier, although evaluating a plaintiff's priiaee case is no longer the necessary prerequisite it was
thought to have been by many district judges prior to Brad§ F.3d at 493, it remains a relevant part of the
analysis in evaluating whether the plaintiff can defeat the defendant’s summargdgotion. _Jone$57 F.3d

at 679.
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he initiate the termination &fls. Montgomery beginning in the fall of 2001, Compl. 1 31, with
the confrontation culminating dag their March 8, 2002 meeting, ifl.38. Therefore, the
negative April evaluation reportahich confirmed the sincerity dfir. Wunder’s alleged threat
during the March 8 meeting andcurred approximately one month after that meeting, would

satisfy the causal connection prarfghe prima facie case. Skgtchell v. Baldridge 759 F.2d

80, 86 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (“[C]ausal connection.. may be established by showing that the
employer had knowledge of the employee’s pre@etctivity, and that the adverse personnel
action took place shortly after the activity.”). Wéhstrong evidence of a prima facie case may
alone be sufficient to survive summary judgment, Al&6 F.3d at 1289 n.4, generally the
plaintiff must establish a “prima facie casemtmne[d] with [other] sufficient evidence to find

that the employer’s justification is false,” Reev&30 U.S. at 148.

The plaintiff also alleges that the filiref his complaint with the EEOC resulted in
further retaliation against him by the defendaftere is no question thtte plaintiff engaged
in protected activity when he filedhEEOC complaint on April 16, 2002. Jon®S7 F.3d at
679. The plaintiff asserts in his complaint filwih the Court that hérst spoke to an EEO
counselor on March, 2002, Compl. § 38, and althdwgimfers that Mr. Wunder learned of this
contact, he does not allege that the first tiegaevaluation report was in retaliation for this
contact, se®l.’s Opp’n at 23 (submitting that “[i]t ieasonable to infer therefore, that Mr.
Wunder learned of [the plaintiff's EEGbntact] . . . and issued the secgenhluation report] to
punish” the plaintiff) (emhasis added). Thus the plaintiff states only that the additional four
paragraphs inserted into the second evaluaépart by the plaintiff's second line supervisor

constituted further retaliation. |d.
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Mr. Wunder offers multiple non-retaliatory justiéitions for the actions taken against the
plaintiff. He asserts thatfiMarch 8, 2002 meeting was tadaglss the plaintiff's many job
performance deficiencies, including his failureapgpear at two meetingsis failure to contact
Mr. Wunder after he returned to work followiag extended period of leave, his failure to
prepare for the award ceremony, dusl problematic managerial style. Def.’s Mem. at 13. For
the most part, the plaintiff does naintest that these events ocedtrbut simply claims that he
had valid excuses for them or that Mr. Wundedeberately exaggeratirthe deficiencies to
justify the poor evaluation reportachis involuntary curtailment. Seeg, Compl. {{ 22-25
(describing the events surroundittg award ceremony\While the plaintiff seeks to explain
away Mr. Wunder’s characterizati of his performance, “courése not free to second-guess an

employer’s business judgmentBranson v. Price River Coal C&53 F.2d 768, 772 (10th Cir.

1988). Accordingly, this Court declines, amitist, “to serve as a ‘super-personnel department
that reexamines an entitybsisiness decisions.” Holcom#33 F.3d at 897 (quoting Barbour v.
Browner, 181 F.3d 1342, 1346 (D.C. Cir. 1999)).

Despite the plaintiff's attempt to rais factual dispute concerning whether his
performance was deficient, there is no dispus lle departed the office for extended leave in
January, 2002, without completing his responiied associated witthe award ceremony.
Compl. T 25. The plaintiff does assert, however, that he did not believe the ceremony would
occur as planned because of Secretary Paadiisence from the country and the awardee’s
illness, id.| 23, but admits that he was concerneaud leaving without contacting Mr. Wunder,
and attempted to locate Mr. Wunder to mmfiohim about the unfinished project, f24.

According to Mr. Wunder, the plaintiff's failut® complete the assignment resulted in a barely
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averted disaster. Def.'s Mem. at 10. While thamilff contests the seriousness of his error, he
does not dispute its occurrence. Pl.’s Stmt.auft§ ] 40-42, 46. Therefore, this incident was a
perfectly valid reason for Mr. Wunder being upséh the plaintiff's peformance, criticizing
him in the March 8, 2002 memorandum, and isgihe subsequent negative evaluation reports.
The plaintiff has done nothing to demoastrany pretext for these actions. Seata Cruz v.
Snow 402 F. Supp. 2d 113, 124 & n.8 (D.D.C. 2005éuting that the plaintiff's failure to
complete several assignments was a prapardation for his Notice of Proposed Suspension).
With regards to Mr. Wunder’s complaint that the plaintiff was a poor supervisor, there is
conflicting evidence in the record on this scoks. Chapman and Ms. ¢utor both state that
the plaintiff was a good supeser. Pl.’'s Opp’n, Ex. 40 (idavit of Deborah Chapman
(“Chapman Aff.”)) T 4; Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 41 (Retor Aff.) 5. Ms. Rouse, similarly, seems
generally positive about the plaintiff's penfioance as a supervisor. Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 15
(Declaration of Sandy Rouse (“Rouse Decld))p:18-6:6. On the other hand, several
employees, including Mses. Baker, Wainscott Mella complained of the plaintiff's “non-
existent” supervision. Def.’s Mem. at 11. \Mever, with three employees complaining about
the plaintiff's supervisory performance, reprasemnearly half of thelaintiff's staff, Mr.
Wunder had a good faith basis to believe that the plaintiff’'s supervisory performance was, in
fact, deficient._Se&eorge 407 F.3d at 415 (“[Aln employer’s action may be justified by a
reasonable belief in the validity of the reason giggen though that reason may turn out to be

false”); Fischbach v. D.C. Dept. of Correctip86 F.3d 1180, 1183 (D.C. Cir. 1996)

(emphasizing that the issuenist whether the non-retaliajoreason for the personnel decision

was true or false, but only whether the employer honestly believed the reason when taking the
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personnel action). Additionally, reports fronetplaintiff’'s subordinates are not entirely
inconsistent with his prior evaluation reposdiich although for the most part were positive,
contained some criticism about his managersgyié in 2000. Def.’s Mem., Ex. 38 (2000
Evaluation Report) at 3. These complaintsjmed with the other exerns regarding the
plaintiff's job performance, prode a legitimate, non-retaliatory justification for the plaintiff’s

negative evaluation reports and mvoluntary curtailment. Sd&rown v. Brody 199 F.3d 446,

458 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (affirming the grant of summardgment for the defendant because it was
the plaintiff “who had the ultimate burden mérsuasion, [and whafffered nothing beyond her
own speculations and allegations to refute the [defendant’s] legitimate, non-discriminatory
reasons for its decisions”).

One of the primary reasons the plaintiff camds that he receiveéde negative evaluation
reports and the resultant involang curtailment was his refus@a comply with Mr. Wunder’s
repeated instructions that the plaintiff takepst leading to Ms. Montgomery’s termination. The
plaintiff's only evidence showing that MWunder or anyone elsequested that Ms.
Montgomery’s performance be reviewed for fugpose of terminating her employment are his
own allegations, and this is insufficientrebut his employer’s legitimate reasons for his
negative evaluation reports aimyoluntary curtailment. CBrady, 520 F.3d at 495 (outlining
the methods by which a plaintiff may rebu¢ ttlefendant’s non-rdiatory justification,
including demonstrating thatetemployer falsified the underlyirfigcts upon which it based its
justification). In fact, notlig in Mr. Wunder’s behavior towds Ms. Montgomery indicates his
desire to have discriminatoaction taken against her, aimdleed circumstantial evidence

indicates the contrary. Nonly did Mr. Wunder give Ms. Montgomery an “excellent” on her
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evaluation rendered after the request was allggedde to monitor her performance, Def.’s
Mem. at 2, 23-27, but as of March, 2005, three yaéter the request hatlegedly been made,
Ms. Montgomery was still employed at the Bureau of Educational and Cultural Affairs, Def.’s
Mem., Ex. 42 (Montgomery Dep.) at 352. The pii contends that MrWunder’s “excellent”
evaluation of Ms. Montgomery’s performance vaaseffort to “insulag himself from [the
plaintiff's] complaints.” PL.5 Opp’n at 25. Although this Cdunay not draw any inferences
from the facts adverse to the non-moving party at the summary judgment stage, Anti€fson
U.S. at 255, the facts related to Ms. Montgoyraartainly do not undermine the defendant’s
non-retaliatory justifications. Finally, whiledtplaintiff asserts thatir. Wunder treated Ms.
Montgomery poorly on various occasions, inchglassigning her diffidtsto-complete work
while the plaintiff was on leave, Compl. 11 38; once again, the plaintiff offers only his own
assertions that this actuathappened, while Ms. Montgomeryrkelf does not remember being
assigned any such burdensome work assignmeefss Mem., Ex 42 (Montgomery Dep.) at
354.

The plaintiff seeks to compare his cas&€500s v. National Ass’n of Realtor&ls F.

Supp. 2 (D.D.C. 1989), where the plaintiff survived summary judgment based on her claim that
she was fired shortly after refagj to fire an employee when dited to do so by her supervisor
because she believed the demand Wwacially motivated.”_ldat 4. However, this case is
markedly different, because in Gotise defendant did not evaxvance a non-retaliatory
justification for its termination of the plaintiff. Sék at 3 (dismissing the defendant’s argument

that the entire McDonnell Dougldmirden shifting framework should not be employed “because

the plaintiff ha[d] failel to make out a primiacie case of retaliatory discharge.”) Additionally,
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while it is true that plaintifheed only have “a good faith, reasbleabelief that the challenged

practice violates Title VII,” Georgel07 F.3d at 417 (quoting Parker v. Balt. & Ohio R.R,, Co.

652 F.2d 1012, 1020 (D.C. Cir. 1981)), a plaintiff mdstmore to establisthat the unlawful
employment practice occurred than to simgdlgge it without any supporting evidence, see

Hamilton v. Paulsonb42 F. Supp. 2d 37, 60 (D.D.C. 2008s(dissing the plaintiff's claim of

retaliation in part becae a “plaintiff may not rest omere speculation alone[,] but must

produce some objectivevidence’ in support of his theories”) (quoting Guerrero v. Univ. of

District of Columbia 251 F. Supp. 2d 13, 15 (D.D.C. 2003)).

Although the plaintiff claims that the additi of Mr. Sexton’s four paragraphs in his
second evaluation report amounted to furthetiegtan for the filing of his EEOC complaint,
Mr. Wunder justifies this incluen stating that while he did nwiitially think a review by Mr.
Sexton, the plaintiff's second-line supervisor swecessary, human resources informed him that
it was. Def.’s Stmt. of Facts § 96. Thtlee defendant has prold a non-retaliatory
justification for the issuance ttie second evaluation report, andaity event, the four paragraph
addition is consistent with the overall toaed evaluation of the first report. Comp®ies
Opp’n, Ex. 21 (McGrath Evaluation Report, April 24, 2002 (“April 24, 2002 Evaluation
Report”)) withPl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 20 (McGrath Evaluation Report, April 11, 2002 (“April 11, 2002
Evaluation Report™)). The plaintiff challenges this proptien, reaffirming his belief that the
second evaluation report, withetinclusion of Mr. Seton’s commentary, wa®taliatory, but he
does not offer any evidence that Mr. WundeKkplanation — that human resources required the
addition of a statement by the plaintiff's second-line supervisor — is pretextual. Pl.’s Stmt. of

Facts  96. Thus, once again, aside from mabaig assertions, thegihtiff has done nothing
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to undermine the defendasthon-retaliatory justifidgon for this action._SeBarbour 181 F.3d
at 1347 (concluding that the dist court should have gramtehe defendant’s request for
judgment as a matter of law because the pféita[d] nothing to buttress her evidence of
pretext”).

In sum, the plaintiff has asserted only the bare facts necessary to establish a prima facie
case of retaliation. Although under Bradlye Court is counseled against delving into the

burden-shifting framework eated in McDonnell Douglag11 U.S. at 802he strength of the

plaintiff's prima facie case remains a relevantsideration in determining whether a reasonable
jury could find for the plaintiff, Jone$57 F.3d at 679. In order to succeed on a claim for
retaliation, a plaintiff must have moreatinbald assertiorns fact. Barbour181 F.3d at 1347.
The defendant, on the other hand, has predentdtiple, non-retaliatory reasons for the
plaintiff's negative evaluation repsrand involuntary curtailmeniTherefore, this Court finds
that no reasonable jury couldreclude that these two adverseptoyment actions more likely
than not resulted from the retaliatory motive asserted by the plaintiff.
B. Letter of Admonishment

The plaintiff also asserts that the Letbé Admonishment issued by his employer
because of his delinquent payment of a credit bdrevas retaliatory. However, the plaintiff
has not demonstrated that thetter of Admonishmet was an “adverse tan” actionable under
Title VII. SeeBrown, 199 F.3d at 458 (affirming the distrimburt’s conclusion that a letter of
admonishment did not constitute an adverse mactind noting that a “thick body of precedent . .
. refutes the notion that formaditicism or poor performance ewvations are necessarily adverse

actions”);_sealsoRunkle v. Gonzales391 F. Supp. 2d 210, 225 (D.D.C. 2005) (“Formal letters
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of admonishment and disciplinanptices that have no effect an employee’s grade or salary
level, job title, duties, benefits or work hours; &xample, do not constitute adverse actions.”).
In this case, the Letter of Admonishment appeatdo have even been placed in the plaintiff's
Personnel File. Def.’s Mem., Ex. 47 (LetterAefmonishment) at 2. Therefore, on the record
before the Court, the plaintiff has faileddemonstrate that the Letter of Admonishment
amounted to an adverse employment actionamedrdingly the retaliation claim based on the
letter cannot be maintained.
C. The Plaintiff’'s Assignment to the Declassification Unit

The plaintiff first notes thatis assignment to the Des#afication Unit, even though it
occurred ten months after he filed his forlB&®OC complaint, was still temporally close enough
to infer a causal relationship between the twengs, considering that the EEOC investigation
was not concluded until December, 2002, Pl{gp@ at 38, and the assignment was made in
February, 2003, icat 28. An ongoing EEOC investigation in which the plaintiff is actively
involved does indeed confeomtinued protection from retaliation to an employee. Gasole v.
Johanns577 F. Supp. 2d 138, 140 (D.D.C. 2008) dtizing continued tection during the
course of ongoing “EEO-protectadtivities” and not just at thieme when the complaint was
filed). However, the plaintiff's own descripti of his assignment the Declassification Unit
belies his claim that it was retaliatory. The plaintiff blames hisadiltiy in finding a new
position on his involuntary curtailment, refeiito it as “a scarlet @n his sweater.” Pl.’s
Opp’n at 27. Indeed, he claaterizes the assignmentth® Declassification Unit as a
“snowball” effect from his involuntary curtailment, jéand complains that finding a position

before 2003 was difficult specifically becaudbg the summer of 2002 almost all positions
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coming open in the fall of 2002 had already bféad and . . . because of concerns regarding

the abrupt curtailmeritid. at 28 (emphasis added). Essaly, the plaintiff has himself

provided the non-retaliatory justification for lislayed reassignment and ultimate assignment to
a less desirable position: namely, that the timing of his curtailment meant that most positions
had already been filled and the involuntary climtant made him a less desirable candidate than
other applicants. ldat 28-29. Therefore, his assignmenthe Declassification Unit cannot be
characterized as retaliatory.
D. The Plaintiff’'s Separation From the Foreign Service

The decision regarding the plaintiff's ultimate separation from the foreign service was
made in April, 2004, Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 30 (Ap21, 2004 Letter tdviatthew McGrath re:
Designation for Selection from Foreign See/(“Separation Lette}), although the final
separation did not occur until November 30, 2@dmpl. T 3. Thus, his eventual separation
from the Foreign Service took place tweays after the filing of his April, 2002 EEOC
complaint, and sixteen months after the conolusif the EEOC investaion. Pl.’s Opp’n at
38. This timeframe places the adverse actiosidatthe timeframe from which a jury could
infer a causal relationship. SBeeeden532 U.S. at 273-74 (citing cases with three to four
month intervals between protedteonduct and adverse employmentacas too remote to infer

a causal relationship); MayevsLaborers’ Health and Safety Fund of North Amer&#8 F.3d

364, 369 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“[T]he eight- or nineanth gap between the final protected activity .
.. and the [adverse employment action] is far too"lpf@mphasis added).
Moreover, the Performance Standardsi8locharged with making a recommendation

regarding the plaintiff separation, based their determinatwmmarily on the plaintiff's four
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most recent evaluation reports and his unfsatiery performance and management style
described above. Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 30 (Separatietter) at 3-7. Specatially, the Performance
Standards Board relied on the plaintiff's unauthed use of an official vehicle, Def.’s Mem.,
Ex. 37 (1999 Evaluation Report) at 4, his latereission of evaluations @ubordinates, Def.’s
Mem., Ex. 38 (2000 Evaluation Report) at 4, docueepoor interpersonal skills leading to low
morale and intimidation, icat 3, and his poor performance idgrhis time at the Bureau of
Educational and Cultural Affairs, discudsmore extensively in Part lll.A, supras documented
by Mr. Wunder, including failing to completemajor assignment before going on leave and
failing to communicate with his subordinat&s.’s Opp’n, Ex. 21 (April 24, 2002 Evaluation
Report) at 3-6. The Performance Standardsr@did note that the gintiff's performance
appeared to improve in his 2000-2001 evaluateport. Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 30 (Separation Letter)
at 3. However, although it acknowledged thighimprovement, in making its decision the
Performance Standards Board focused primarilyhe three more negadi evaluation reports,
and noted that the plaintiff “declined to submpersonal statement to [his 2001-2002 evaluation
report,” making it impossible to evaligahis side of the story. ldt 2.

Although the Performance Standards Boarddtats disposal the plaintiff's entire
record, it relied primarily on the most recenakeation reports because “[a] marked lack of
growth potential may itself be alidireason for selection out,” idt 1, and that “[a]lthough [the
plaintiff] has received annua¢édback on the reasons for [H@wv-ranking, the Board found no
evidence in the file showing that [the plaintiff[d] overcome or systeniedlly addressed these
weaknesses,” icat 2. Therefore, just as the defendanatvides a non-retaliaty justification for

the negative evaluation reports and involuntaryagimnent, so too has the defendant asserted a
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non-retaliatory justification for itdecision to separate the plainfifbm the Foreign Service. Id.
at 3-7. The plaintiff has done g to raise a genuine issag to the credibility of the
defendant’s rationale for his termination, ottl&n to assert the inaccuracies in his 2002
evaluation reports. Sdd.’s Opp’n at 31 (contestingeglPerformance Standards Board’s
decision because it “quotes almost exclusiviedyn the 2002 [evaluation report] issued by Mr.
Waunder). And this Court has already diss@d the plaintiff's antention that the 2002
evaluation reports were issuedrétaliation for his participation in protected activity. Sulpeat
lII.LA. Accordingly, the plaintiff has failed to deonstrate that a reasonable jury could find that
the defendant’s justification for ternaifing his employment was pretextual.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court cotetuthat the plaintiff could not carry his
evidentiary burden of proving toreasonable jury that it was madikely than not that the
defendant retaliated against him when it &gkthe two negative aluation reports in 2002,
involuntarily curtailed him, issued the Letter of Admonishment, assigned him the
Declassification Unit, and ultimately separated lbum of the Foreign Service. Accordingly, the
defendant’s motion for summajydgment must be granted.

SO ORDEREDthis 11th day of December, 2089.

REGGIE B. WALTON
UnitedState<District Judge

14 An order will be entered contemporaneously with this memorandum opinion granting the defendant’$amotio
summary judgment andosing this case.

28



